**RECEIVED**

**Dec 29 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000860

---

Ina Shtukar Steinberg,

Appellant,

v.

SC Property and Casualty Insurance  
Guaranty Association, as a successor in  
interest to St. Johns Insurance, insolvent  
insurer,

Respondent.

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

December 25, 2025

s/ Ina S. Steinberg  
Ina Shtukar "Steinberg" Esquire  
SC Bar No. 105916  
1687 Saybrook Court  
Rock Hill, SC 29732  
(704)-309-0992  
ina@blackandwhiteimmigrationlaw.org  
*ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT*

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court rely on inadmissible evidence in granting Defendant's motion for summary judgment?
- II. Did the trial court misapply the summary judgment standard of review, failing to consider crucial evidence and to view the evidence it did consider in the light most favorable to Plaintiff in ruling on Defendant's motion, and resolve a key dispute of material fact, finding that the damage to Plaintiff's roof was "old hail"?
- III. Did the trial court err substantively, when it placed the entire burden of proof onto Plaintiff, because the claim was denied based solely on a policy exclusion, which flipped the burden of proof, and found that Plaintiff failed to make a *prima facie* showing of coverage?
- IV. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it turned a blind eye to Defendant's procedural gamesmanship and rejected Plaintiff's timeliness objection to Defendant's intentionally delayed summary judgment materials?
- V. Did the trial court err when it rejected Plaintiff's argument that Defendant failed to sufficiently plead its policy exclusions?
- VI. Did the trial court err when it partially dismissed Plaintiff's Complaint, to the extent S.C. Code Ann. §38-31-20 expressly allows recovery of extra-contractual damages awarded against Defendant and a justiciable controversy existed between the parties?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of this case are largely undisputed, however, as will be explained below, the parties disagree about the inferences to be drawn from the facts, and the trial court improperly accepted Defendant's version of events while ruling on Defendant's motion. *See e.g., Charbonnages de France v. Smith*, 597 F.2d 406, 414 (4th Cir. 1979) (the nonmoving party is entitled to have the "[her] version of all that is in dispute accepted, [and] all internal conflicts in it resolved favorably to [her]"). The record before the Court shows that on or about August 10, 2020, Plaintiff purchased home insurance from St. Johns (Policy No SC31019957). R. pp. 176-179. Plaintiff subsequently renewed the policy on August 10, 2021<sup>1</sup>. R. pp. 180, 368. On or

---

<sup>1</sup> At the hearing, Defendant asserted that "[t]he first notice of this hail claim was nine days after

about September 6, 2021, Plaintiff observed a roof replacement at a neighboring property, located in the same cul-de-sac, which was performed by Carolina Storm Roofing Company (“CS Roofing”). R. pp. 176-179. She recalled observing a hail storm a few weeks earlier on or about August 19, 2021. *Id.* Plaintiff contacted CS Roofing and Will Robinson (“Will”), who was a project manager on the neighbor’s property, inspected the roof on or about September 13, 2021, and found recent hail damage to Plaintiff’s roof and gutters. *Id.* Will offered to assist with placing a claim and provided Susan Ryder’s phone number, who subsequently placed the claim. *Id.* Upon receiving the claim, the insurer assigned the claim to Davis Claim Services to investigate it. *Id.* After inspecting the roof on October 4, 2021, the adjuster issued a thorough report, recommending the approval of the claim and a full roof replacement. R. pp. 189-267. Despite the adjuster’s findings, supported by photographic evidence, and the claims director’s warning that “with our IA stating that some of the damage was from hail and recommending roof replacement, it would be a problem if the engineer comes in later with a different opinion,” the insurer ordered a reinspection by Haag, solely because StormIntel Verify Jail History Report, which was only one of many storm reports available, showed “No Data” for the date of loss, August 19, 2021. R. pp. 266-268. The insurer, however, knew or should have known that weather reports<sup>2</sup> are not entirely reliable, as reflected by the report’s own conspicuously made disclaimer that “No Data” meant only that the company “*could not verify* hail of at least 0.75 inch in diameter at the property address during the requested search period,” not that it did not

---

the policy went into effect,” which is factually incorrect, as the policy inception took place in 2020 and the claim was made in 2021.

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiff respectfully asks the Court to take judicial notice, pursuant to Rule 201, SCRE, that according to Haag itself, there are many different storm reports databases and that “[i]t is important to remember that these databases are not fully quality-controlled, so while these reports are mappable and publicly available, the lack of a quality control process means that they could be prone to errors.” The Haag publication can be accessed using this link: <https://haagglobal.com/featured-post/storm-reports-part-2-how-do-we-use-them-september-2024/>

hail. R. p. 268 (emphasis added). The insurer subsequently denied the claim, when, as the claims director predicted, Haag issued a report that contradicted the adjuster's report, finding that the damage to the roof was "old hail" and recommending individual shingles replacement, which the investigating adjuster expressly rejected in light of the age of the roof. R. pp. 189-265, 269-271. While at the time of the denial, the insurer had two conflicting reports, it denied coverage solely based on the second report, without even mentioning the first report and without making any effort to resolve the two conflicting opinions. *Id.* Moreover, while the insurer's first report documented many *dark* in color hail bruises as well as hail splatter on the soft metal and the gutters, the insurer completely disregarded this evidence, and asserted that the hail bruises were all *faded* and that there was no visible hail splatter. *Id.* The insurer handled the claim as if the first report and the evidence it contained did not exist. *Id.* In addition to disregarding the first report, the insurer also disregarded additional materials submitted by Plaintiff's contractor, including a Benchmark Hail Report, which documented hail on August 19, 2021, at Plaintiff's location, the fact that the contractor replaced three roofs based on the approved claims with the same date of loss, which contradicted the insurer's determination that it did not hail on the date in question. R. pp. 272-277. Instead of addressing any of the conflicting evidence and the issues raised by Plaintiff and her contractor, the insurer summarily reaffirmed its denial without refuting any of the concerns, referencing the insurer's insolvency, which indeed explained the insurer's stubborn refusal to approve the claim, since it no longer cared about keeping Plaintiff as an insured. R. pp. 278-280. When Plaintiff renewed the claim with Defendant, it rubber stamped the insurer's denial, parroting its reasoning. R. p. 281. Both the insurer and Defendant did not disclose the first report's findings and recommendations and ignored Plaintiff's request to obtain a copy of the investigating adjuster's report. *Id.*; R. pp. 176-179.

After Plaintiff had timely submitted a Proof of Claim to the Division of Rehabilitation and Liquidation of the Florida Department of Financial Services, pursuant to with S.C. Code Ann. §38-31-60(2), she filed a Complaint for breach of contract, breach of covenant of good faith, and declaratory judgment on April 1, 2024. R. pp. 291-320. The court subsequently dismissed the declaratory judgment and breach of covenant of good faith counts on October 21, 2024. R. pp. 1-5, 48-62, 90-97, 126-147. Plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment on February 10, 2025, supported by 11 Exhibits and her affidavit. R. pp. 98-113, 176-281. The matter was subsequently continued per Defendant's motion and set for hearing on March 12, 2025. R. p. 6. On March 3, 2025, despite having extra time to respond, Defendant submitted a filing titled "Notice of Motion and Motion for Summary Judgment," which did not address any of Plaintiff's arguments and evidentiary objections to the Haag Report. R. pp. 114-117. This filing was not supported by any exhibits. *Id.* On March 6, 2025, Plaintiff filed a timely response to Defendant's motion supported by seven (7) Exhibits and another Affidavit, addressing Defendant's half-backed arguments and raising a procedural objection to Defendant's gamesmanship in delaying the filing of the actual motion. R. pp. 148-175, 282-322. On March 11, 2025, 18 hours before the hearing, Defendant made another filing titled "Cross Motion for Summary Judgment," which was supported by four (4) exhibits, including the Haag report<sup>3</sup>. R. pp. 118-125, 323-431. D's MSJ; T at 4. On March 12, 2025, the court orally granted Defendant's motion overruling Plaintiff's procedural and evidentiary objections. R. pp. 63-89. A written order was entered on April 4, 2025. R. p. 8. Ironically, on April 10, 2025, the clerk of court docketed the matter for a hearing on Defendant's March 11 motion, which the court has heard on March 12, 2025. R. pp. 432-439. Plaintiff timely noticed her appeal on May 1, 2025.

---

<sup>3</sup> Defense counsel also contemporaneously emailed a copy of the filing to the court. This filing likewise failed to address Plaintiff's evidentiary objections to the Haag report.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### *i. Summary Judgment*

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and it is clear the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). Our Court of Appeals has adopted the framework set out by the Supreme Court in *Celotex* for cases where the nonmoving party bears the burden of proof and persuasion as to the claim subject to a motion for summary judgment:

“Under Rule 56(c), the party seeking summary judgment has the initial responsibility of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). “With respect to an issue upon which the nonmoving party bears the burden of proof, this initial responsibility may be discharged by ‘showing’--that is, pointing out to the [trial] court--that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’s case.” *Id.* (alteration in original) (quoting *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 325, 106 S. Ct. 2548 (1986)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “The moving party need not ‘support its motion with affidavits or other similar materials negating the opponent's claim.’” *Id.* (quoting *Celotex*, 477 U.S. at 323); see also *Richardson v. State-Record Co.*, 330 S.C. 562, 499 S.E.2d 822 (Ct. App. 1998). Once the moving party carries its initial burden, the opposing party must come forward with specific facts that show there is a genuine issue of fact remaining for trial. *Baughman*, 306 S.C. at 115, 410 S.E.2d at 545.

*Sides v. Greenville Hosp. Sys.*, 362 S.C. 250, 255, 607 S.E.2d 362, 364 (Ct. App. 2004).

### *ii. 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss*

“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) SCRPC, an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the [circuit] court.” See *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C.

643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009); *id.* (“That standard requires the [c]ourt to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the ‘facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the [appellant] to relief on any theory of the case.’”). Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which we are free to decide without any deference to the court below. *Columbia/CSA-HS Greater Columbia Healthcare Sys., LP v. S.C. Med. Malpractice Liab. Joint Underwriting Ass'n*, 411 S.C. 557, 560, 769 S.E.2d 847, 848 (2015) (quoting *Grier v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc.*, 397 S.C. 532, 535, 725 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2012)).

**iii. Rulings on evidentiary and procedural objections**

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” *Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 400 S.C. 33, 44, 733 S.E.2d 114, 120 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 57-58 (2011)). Abuse of discretion as a decision “based on an error of law, or, when grounded in factual conclusions, [a decision] without evidentiary support.” *State v. Wright*, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (internal citation omitted). To warrant reversal based on the admission of evidence, the appealing party must also show prejudice. *Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 557, 658 S.E.2d 80, 86 (2008). Prejudice ensues when it is likely the challenged evidence influenced the outcome of the case. *Fields v. Reg'l Med. Ctr. Orangeburg*, 363 S.C. 19, 26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005). In similar vein, rulings on procedural objections will not be disturbed absent a showing of abuse of discretion that prejudiced a party. *See e.g., Black v. Lexington Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 327 S.C. 55, 60, 488 S.E.2d 327, 329 (1997) (“[T]he trial court may refuse to consider materials that were not timely served such that the opposing party had no time to prepare a response.”); *Spreeuw v. Barker*, 385 S.C. 45, 68-

69, 682 S.E.2d 843, 855 (Ct. App. 2009).

## ARGUMENTS

***I. The summary judgment cannot stand because the trial court relied on inadmissible evidence to rule in Defendant's favor on its motion for summary judgment.***

The record shows that Plaintiff repeatedly objected to the introduction of the Haag report as inadmissible hearsay, both in her filings and at the time of the hearing. R. pp. 75, 77, 84, 100-101 (footnote 2), 172-174. Even though Defendant failed to even mention Plaintiff's conspicuously made evidentiary objection in its summary judgment briefing and made only a conclusory argument at the time of the hearing, unsupported by either evidence or authority, that the Haag report was admissible because Plaintiff knew about its existence and it was produced in discovery, the trial court orally overruled Plaintiff's objection because "the defendant was relying on [] an expert report that's many years old" and subsequently signed an order that stated that "the Haag Engineering Report is admissible and does meet the business records exception to the Hearsay Rule," which was the extent of the court's analysis. R. pp. 10, 72 ¶¶ 20-22, 73 ¶¶ 22-23. Because the court's conclusion is not supported by any evidence in the record and because it is based on the error of law, the court's reliance on the Haag report was arbitrary or capricious, particularly given its lack of explanation<sup>4</sup> in overruling Plaintiff's hearsay objection.

"Our appellate courts have interpreted Rule 56(e) to mean materials used to support or refute a motion for summary judgment must be those which would be admissible in evidence." *Hall v. Fedor*, 349 S.C. 169, 175, 561 S.E.2d 654, 657 (Ct. App. 2002). *See Baughman.*, 306 S.C. at 410; *Moon v. Jordan*, 301 S.C. 161, 390 S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 1990); *Moss v. Porter Bros., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 444, 357 S.E.2d 25 (Ct. App. 1987); *see also Hansen v. DHL Labs., Inc.*, 316 S.C. 505, 510, 450 S.E.2d 624, 627 (Ct. App. 1994), *aff'd*, 319 S.C. 79, 459 S.E.2d 850 (1995) ("A genuine

---

<sup>4</sup> The age of the report has no bearing on whether it is hearsay.

issue of fact ... can be created only by evidence which would be admissible at trial.”) (citing, *inter alia*, Rule 56(e), SCRCPP). *See also Md. Highways Contractors Ass’n v. Maryland*, 933 F.2d 1246, 1251 (4th Cir. 1991) (“[H]earsay evidence, which is inadmissible at trial, cannot be considered on a motion for summary judgment.”). “Hearsay,” in its simplest terms, is an out-of-court statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted. SCRE 801(c). As a general rule, hearsay is not admissible. SCRE 802. Expert reports are generally inadmissible hearsay. *Scully*, 409 S.C. at 411, 762 S.E.2d at 64 (reversed on other grounds) (“Here, McHenry was allowed to rely on hearsay in his report when giving his expert opinion. However, the admission of the report itself simply because McHenry used it in forming his expert opinion was in error.”); *Fowler v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 410 S.C. 403, 410-411, 764 S.E.2d 249, 252 (Ct. App. 2014). *See also, Tokio Marine & Fire Ins. Co. v. Norfolk & W. Ry*, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 476, \*10 (4th Cir 1999) (“Even if Clark were qualified as an expert, the report was inadmissible hearsay. Reports stating an expert opinion are not admissible without the preparer being present in court to testify as to his qualifications as an expert and to be cross-examined on the substance.”) (citing *Forward Communications Corp. v. United States*, 221 Ct. Cl. 582, 608 F.2d 485, 511 (Ct. Cl. 1979)); *Reckley v. Cmty. Nursing, Inc.*, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 163976, \*3-4, 2021 WL 3861270 (D.MT. August 30, 2021) (“Expert reports are generally inadmissible hearsay.”); *Page v. Va. State Bd. of Elections*, No. 3:13-cv-678, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73514, 2015 WL 3604029, at \*30 n.42 (E.D.VA. June 5, 2015) (noting that that “expert reports are hearsay and hence not admissible usually”); *David v. Summit Cmty. Bank*, 2023 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 153782, \*28, 2023 WL 5615983 (E.D.VA. August 30, 2023) (“The expert report is hearsay outside the delineated exceptions,” and its admission is “arbitrary or capricious [] particularly given its lack of explanation in overruling David’s hearsay objection”); *Escobar v.*

*Airbus Helicopters SAS*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 137957, 2016 WL 6024441, at \*1 (D. Haw. Oct. 4, 2016) (citing *Hunt v. City of Portland*, 599 Fed. Appx. 620, 621 (9th Cir. 2013) (concluding that expert report was inadmissible hearsay)). Application of the hearsay rule to “expert reports is quite straightforward[–][t]he reports are out-of-court statements by witnesses offered for their truth and so fall within the definition of hearsay.” *Alexie v. United States*, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4103, 2009 WL 160354, at \*1 (D. Alaska Jan. 21, 2009). The same holds true here, to the extent the Haag report was an out-of-court statement offered by Defendant for the truth of the matter asserted—that damage to Plaintiff’s roof was old hail—which means that it is not admissible unless an exception to the hearsay rule applies. The record shows that Defendant failed to not only identify an applicable hearsay exception or argue that the report has any non-hearsay purpose in its summary judgment briefing or at the hearing, but it also failed to refute Plaintiff’s evidentiary arguments supported by authority, asserted in Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment filed before Defendant even moved for summary judgment. R. pp. 100-101 (footnote 2), 114-125, 172-174. Nonetheless, the court stated in its order that the Haag report was a “business record,” even though the burden<sup>5</sup> was on Defendant to *show* that an exception applied. *See State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 563, 816 S.E.2d 566, 572 (2018) (“After an objection is raised, the proponent of hearsay testimony has the burden of showing it fits appropriately within a hearsay exception.”). The fallacy of the court’s conclusion is obvious, to the extent Defendant utterly failed to carry its burden in addressing Plaintiff’s objection. R. p. 74 ¶¶ 8-22. *See MYR Equip., LLC v. Plant Site Logistics, Inc.*, 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7493, \*7-8, 2022 WL 137974 (D.MT. August 30, 2021) (“MYR has not identified an applicable hearsay exception or argued that the report has any non-hearsay purpose. Therefore, the report is inadmissible at trial.”); *Cf. Wilson v.*

---

<sup>5</sup> As will be explained below, the court placed all relevant burdens onto Plaintiff’s shoulders without any hesitation.

*Wexford Health Sources, Inc.*, 932 F.3d 513, 522 (7th Cir. 2019) (finding no abuse of discretion where district court excluded expert reports as inadmissible hearsay); *Dean v. Wexford Health Sources, Inc.*, 18 F.3d 214, 232-33 (7th Cir. 2021) (finding that district court abused its discretion in admitting expert report that had no non-hearsay purpose). Moreover, even if Defendant were to properly invoke the business record exception, Defendant is not in the business of preparing engineering expert reports—it is in the business of insurance—and it is well settled that defense counsel’s conclusory advocacy uttered for the first time at the hearing is *not evidence*.

As an initial matter, Defendant failed to either refute Plaintiff’s hearsay objection or properly assert a hearsay exception, waiving the issues on appeal:

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