RECEIVED

Dec 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000860

Ina Shtukar Steinberg,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Property and Casualty Insurance
Guaranty Association, as a statutory successor in
interest to St. Johns Insurance, insolvent insurer,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Laura R. Baer, SC Bar No. 101076
Mary D. LaFave, SC Bar No. 75366
LAFAVE BAGLEY, LLC
2019 Park Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 724-5729
laura@lafavebagley.com
mary@lafavebagley.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

I. **The Circuit Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Considering Respondent's Supporting Memorandum And Exhibits Filed The Day Prior To The Motions Hearing, Including The Engineering Report Obtained During Adjustment Of The Claim.**

Standard of Review

The Guaranty agrees that the appellate court reviews a lower court's rulings on evidentiary and procedural objections at the summary judgment stage under the same abuse of discretion standard that would be applied had the decision been made at trial. *See* App. Br., pp. 6-7; *Hofer v. St. Clair*, 298 S.C. 503, 513, 381 S.E.2d 736, 742 (1989) ("[T]he admission of evidence is a matter

addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge and absent clear abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law, the lower court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal.”); *Black v. Lexington Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 327 S.C. 55, 60, 488 S.E.2d 327, 329 (1997) (analyzing exclusion of untimely affidavit under abuse of discretion standard). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s rulings either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Hamilton v. Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 440 S.C. 605, 623, 891 S.E.2d 682, 692 (Ct. App. 2023).

Discussion

A. Timeliness of Memorandum and Supporting Materials

Steinberg argues that the Guaranty’s memorandum in support of summary judgment and the exhibits thereto —none of which included an affidavit—were untimely filed. *See* Appellant’s Brief, at Issue IV. However, Steinberg cannot point to any South Carolina Rule that required the filing to be made two days prior to the hearing and was unable to demonstrate any undue surprise or prejudice since she had been in possession of the Haag report for years prior to the hearing. Neither Rule 6(d) nor Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require that a supporting memorandum and its non-affidavit exhibits be filed ten (10) days prior to the hearing. Rather, by its plain language, Rule 6(d) requires only that a written motion, notice of the hearing, and supporting affidavit be served not later than ten days before the time specified for the hearing, unless a different period is fixed by these rules or by an order of the court. Rule 6(d), SCRC (“A written motion... and notice of the hearing thereof, shall be served not later than ten days before the time specified for the hearing, unless a different period is fixed by these rules or by an order of the court.... When a motion is to be supported by affidavit, the affidavit shall be served with the motion; and, except as otherwise provided in Rule 59(c), additional or opposing affidavits may be served not later than two days before the hearing, unless the court permits them to be served at

some other time.”). Rule 56 provides that a motion for summary judgment be filed ten days before the hearing and that an adverse party may serve opposing affidavits not later than two days before the hearing. *See* Rule 56(c), SCR. Steinberg’s brief admits these Rules “do not expressly prohibit the filing of a motion apart from the brief and supporting exhibits.” *See* Appellant’s Brief, at p 37.

Notably, the Civil Motions Pilot Program instituted by the South Carolina Supreme Court in September 2015 further illustrates the absence of any requirement in the South Carolina Rules that supporting authority be served with a written motion. *See* S.C. Sup. Ct. Order re: Civil Motions Pilot Program (filed Sept. 10, 2015). This program, which requires parties to file and serve supporting authority together with written motions, was piloted in the Third and Fifteenth Judicial Circuits only and never expanded. *Id.* If such contemporaneous filing were already required under the state court Rules, then this pilot program would have been obsolete. Similarly, the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas requires that any supporting memorandum be filed at least 72 hours prior to the hearing. *See* Greenville County: Court Support Memorandum Policies, available at <https://www.greenvillecounty.org/courtsupport/MemPolicies.aspx>. The York County Court of Common Pleas does not have any such requirement.

While the “the trial court *may* refuse to consider materials that were not timely served such that the opposing party had no time to prepare a response,” this is not a requirement and would certainly not be proper where materials were not untimely served. *Black*, 327 S.C. at 60, 488 S.E.2d at 329 (emphasis added) (refusing to consider affidavit served three hours before hearing on the summary judgment and where no good excuse asserted for the failure to timely serve it). Other than *Black*, Steinberg’s brief cites primarily to out of state case law and federal court orders, none of which are an application of the Rules applicable to the subject hearing.

The additional South Carolina cases cited by Steinberg are taken out of context by their selective quotation. For example, Steinberg cites the following from *Scott v. Greenville Hous. Auth.*, 353 S.C. 639, 652, 579 S.E.2d 151, 158 (Ct. App. 2003), but purposefully omitted the word “discovery”: “The gist and gravamen of the discovery rules mandate full and fair disclosure to prevent a trial from becoming a guessing game or one of ambush for either party.” See Appellant’s Brief at p. 35. Steinberg also cites *Garrison v. Target Corporation*, 429 S.C. 325, 360, 838 S.E.2d 18, 37 (Ct. App. 2020), *reversed in part*, 435 S.C. 566, 869 S.E.2d 797 (2022), for its admonition that a defendant should not be permitted to ambush plaintiff with an unexpected defense. However, Steinberg failed to include the context, which was a discussion of the requirement to plead affirmative defenses. See *Garrison*, 429 S.C. at 360, 838 S.E.2d at 37. Here, all of the exhibits to the Guaranty’s Memorandum were produced in discovery months before the hearing, and the Haag Report specifically was sent to Steinberg with the initial denial letter in December 2021. [See R. 269, Denial Letter; 2025 Hr’g Tr., R. p. 73, line 8 – p. 74, line 22.] Thus, the present case is both procedurally and substantively distinguishable.

Steinberg further argues that to the extent the trial court was going to consider the Guaranty’s filings, it was required to continue the hearing. See Appellant’s Brief at p. 38. “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Notably, the Record does not contain any request by Steinberg that the March 12, 2025, hearing be continued. [2025 Hr’g Tr., R. pp. 67-88]. There was a break in the audio-visual recording following which Steinberg said “--necessitating continuances,” but her continued argument made clear that she was requesting the Judge “decline to consider” the Guaranty’s filing and not requesting a continuance. [R. p. 71, line 13 – p. 72, line 17.] Moreover, there was no ruling by the trial judge on any request for continuance. [See *id.*]

Accordingly, Steinberg’s argument that the trial court erred in failing to grant a continuance is not properly preserved. *See Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (“At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the [circuit court].”); *Duncan v. CRS Serrine Eng’rs, Inc.*, 337 S.C. 537, 543-44, 524 S.E.2d 115, 119 (Ct. App. 1999) (appellant’s contentions were not preserved for appellate review when he failed to plead the issue, raise it to the circuit court, or argue it in a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, motion); *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (“A party *must* file [a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP,] motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.”); *Register v. Duke*, 302 S.C. 195, 197-98, 394 S.E.2d 718, 720 (Ct. App. 1990) (issue of whether the circuit court erred by refusing a continuance was not preserved when the issue was raised to but not ruled on by the circuit court and appellant made no Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, motion).

Even had Steinberg requested a continuance, denial of the same would have been proper where there was no surprise or prejudice to Steinberg. Steinberg’s claimed prejudice was that she “did not have an opportunity to file an evidentiary motion to fully brief the issue of the Haag report.” [2025 Hr’g Tr., R. p. 75, lines 4-7.] However, Steinberg was well aware of the Haag report, as demonstrated in the brief she filed ahead of the March 2025 hearing, in which she argued that the report was hearsay and not within the business records exception. [R. 165-166 & 173-174, P.’s Opp. to Cross-Mot., at pp. 18-19, 26-27.] She reiterated these arguments at the hearing. [2025 Hr’g Tr., R. p. 73, line 24 – p. 74, line 5; R. p. 77, lines 1-6.]

Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse his discretion when it declined to impose the harsh punishment advocated by Steinberg for violation of a requirement that simply does not exist under South Carolina’s procedural rules.

B. Consideration of Haag Report

Steinberg argues that, even if the memorandum and exhibits were not untimely, the Haag engineering report relied upon in the adjustment and denial of her claim should not have been considered because it is hearsay and the Guaranty did produce an affidavit from the custodian of the report or the authoring engineer. *See* Appellant’s Brief, at Issues I and IV. Notably, as with Steinberg’s failure to request a continuance, Steinberg never argued that an affidavit was necessary to authenticate the Haag report.³ Rather, Steinberg argued that the report was inadmissible because it does not fall within the business records exception and “was not procured to investigate the claim” but instead “solely to deny the claim with an eye toward litigation.” [*See* 2025 Hr’g Tr., R. p. 73, line 4 – p. 75, line 7; R. p. 77, lines 1-6.] The Guaranty argued, and the Court agreed, that the Haag report was an admissible part of the claim file. [R. p. 74, lines 8-19.]

The litany of cases cited by Steinberg discuss the admissibility of reports **at trial** when the expert does or does not offer live testimony or where the purported expert was not duly qualified. *See* App. Br., pp. 8-10. None of these cases stand for the proposition that an affidavit or live testimony must accompany or replace an expert’s report at summary judgment. Rather, the law requires only that “materials used to support or refute a motion for summary judgment must be those which would be admissible in evidence.” *Hall v. Fedor*, 349 S.C. 169, 168, 561 S.E.2d 654, 657 (Ct. App. 2002). This does not equate to a requirement that every piece of evidence presented at the summary judgment stage be done in the same manner as for trial. *See Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986) (“We do not mean that the nonmoving party must produce

³ Had the authentication issue been raised, it is notable that the Haag report was signed by Plancer and stamped with his professional engineer seal and the seal of Haag Engineering. [*See* R. 323-328, Haag Report.] “The seal and signature of a licensee certifies that the document was prepared by the licensee or his agent.” S.C. Code § 40-22-270(9).

evidence in a form that would be admissible at trial in order to avoid summary judgment. Obviously, Rule 56 does not require the nonmoving party to depose her own witnesses. Rule 56(e) permits a proper summary judgment motion to be opposed by any of the kinds of evidentiary materials listed in Rule 56(c), except the mere pleadings themselves, and it is from this list that one would normally expect the nonmoving party to make the showing to which we have referred.”).

The business records exception to the hearsay rule permits the admission of records of regularly conducted activity unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate a lack of trustworthiness. *See* Rule 803(6), SCRE. Reports and documents prepared in the ordinary course of business, as opposed to for the primary purpose of litigating, are generally presumed to be reliable. *See Certain Underwriters at Lloyd’s, London v. Sinkovich*, 232 F.3d 200, 204 (4th Cir. 2000). In *Traum v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc’y of the U.S.*, the federal district court admitted a claim file as a business record. 240 F. Supp. 2d 776, 780-81 (N.D. Ill. 2002). The *Traum* Court explained:

To the extent the [claim] file is cited to show what information was before defendants or that defendants took certain action as to the claim, it is certainly admissible because it is not being used to show the truth of the matter contained therein or because it is showing defendants’ own conduct through their own business records. However, to the extent defendants rely on third party statements or documents to show the truth of the matters contained therein, such evidence is not admissible unless an additional basis for admission exists. One possibility is that the evidence would be admissible under another hearsay exception. Another possibility is that the third-party statement or document will have adequate sources of corroboration to deem it admissible.

Id. at 781 (internal citations omitted).

Steinberg’s brief makes a misleading attack on the trustworthiness of the Haag report by inaccurately citing to *Underwriters at Lloyd’s of London v. Tarantino Props.*, 2012 WL 3835385 (W.D.MI. Sept. 4, 2012), for the quotation: “Haag was hired despite State Auto’s knowledge that

Haag had previously been involved in multiple cases in which they were found to have acted with bias in favor of Insurance companies.” App. Br., p. 16. Respondent was able to locate the quoted language in another federal district court order. *State Auto. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Freehold Mgmt., Inc.*, 2019 WL 1436659, at *19 (N.D. Tex. Mar. 31, 2019). However, the language cited was not that of any analysis or ruling by the district court, but rather a portion of the report prepared by the insured’s expert, Roger Grimm, in that matter. *See id.* The district court ultimately granted the motion to exclude Grimm for various reasons, including the lack of factual basis to support Grimm’s opinion that Haag was biased.⁴ *Id.* at *27.

Here, the Haag investigation was obtained during the course of the claim investigation to determine the timing of the hail damage, prior to any decision on coverage and any perceived threat of or actual litigation. Specifically, the Haag report was provided on or about December 10, 2021, claim denial letter was sent on December 20, 2021, the Guaranty affirmed the denial by letter on May 7, 2022, and the underlying Complaint was not filed until April 1, 2024. [R. 269, Denial Ltr; R. 281, SCGA Ltr.; R. 18, Compl.]. Had the case not resolved at the summary judgment stage, the Haag report would have still been admissible at trial for establishing what was relied upon by the insurer in determining coverage. *See Waites v. S.C. Windstorm & Hail Underwriting Ass’n*, 279 S.C. 362, 365, 307 S.E.2d 223, 225 (1983) (“Where, regardless of the truth or the falsity of a statement, the fact that it has been made is relevant, the hearsay rule does not apply, but the statement may be shown.”); *Traum, supra*. Further, the same opinions expressed in the Haag report could have be admitted through Plancer’s live expert testimony at trial. *See Varnadore v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 289 S.C. 155, 160, 345 S.E.2d 711, 714 (1986) (finding any error in

⁴ While Appellant is self-represented, it is worthy of noting that Ms. Steinberg is a South Carolina barred attorney familiar with how to review and cite case law and her responsibility for candor with the Court.

failing to admit expert report at trial harmless where the author of the report testified as to its contents). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in considering the Hagg report.

II. Appellant’s Breach Of Contract Claim Fails As A Matter Of Law Where The Evidence Demonstrated That The Hail Damage To Appellant’s Roof Occurred Outside Any Relevant Policy Period.

Standard of Review

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